0A 6-1-92



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, by ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, as Attorney General of Florida; et al.,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,696

REPUBLICAN PARTY OF FLORIDA, and REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF FLORIDA,

Appellees.

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,755 /

NRA POLITICAL VICTORY COMMITTEE and UNIFIED SPORTSMEN OF FLORIDA GUNPAC,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LOUIS F. HUBENER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL - SUITE 1502 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-9935

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. State of Florida, etc., et al. v. Republican Party, et al., No. 79,696.

This case began when the Republican Party of Florida and the Republican State Executive Committee of Florida (collectively, the "Party") brought suit against the appellants in circuit court in Leon County. The Party challenged the constitutionality of section 106.29(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), arguing that the statute infringed impermissibly upon their First Amendment rights by devoting certain assessments on contributions received by the Party's executive committee to causes or candidates they do not support and with whom they may disagree.

Section 106.29(1)(b), Florida Statutes, as amended in 1991, provides:

Each state executive committee and (b) county executive committee of each political party shall pay a 1.5 percent all contributions, assessment on excluding contributions received from political committees and committees of continuous existence and excluding in kind contributions and filing fees. The assessment shall be remitted by the political party executive committee to time filing officer the the at contribution reports are due. The transfer the officer shall filing assessment revenues to the Division of Elections for deposit into the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund.

Ch. 91-107, § 8, Laws of Florida. As section 106.29(1)(b) states, the 1.5% assessment is deposited by the State in the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund ("Trust Fund"). This

money is available, pursuant to section 106.34, Florida Statutes, to qualifying candidates running for certain statewide offices.

parties' Under Florida law, the political executive committees receive substantial sums of money from the State to finance election campaigns. These sums far exceed what the State assesses under section 106.29(1)(b). Pursuant to section 99.092, Florida Statutes, candidates for nomination or election to any office must pay a qualifying The fee consisting of a filing fee and election assessment. filing fee is 4.5 percent of the annual salary of the office and the election assessment is 1 percent of the annual Section 99.092 directs that the salary of the office. amount of the filing fee equal to 15 percent of the annual salary shall be transferred to the Trust Fund and the remainder distributed pursuant to section 99.103. The latter section directs that the Department of State remit 95% of all filing fees (less certain specified amounts) to the statewide executive committees that have complied with section 99.103(1).

A similar procedure exists under section 99.061 with respect to persons seeking to qualify for nomination to a county office, district or special district office. Section 99.061(2) requires the supervisor of elections to

> remit to the secretary of the state executive committee of the political party to which the candidate belongs the

> > - 2 -

amount of the filing fee, two-thirds of which shall be used to promote the candidacy of candidates for county offices and the candidacy of members of the Legislature.

The State submitted two affidavits of Dorothy W. Joyce, Director of the Division of Elections, establishing the amount of money the Republican Party and the Democratic Party received from filing fees and party assessments (from the State and the counties) for the years 1986-1991. (R 97 et seq.) Those amounts were:

1986 \$487,147.22 **REPUBLICAN PARTY** \$790,130.78 DEMOCRATIC PARTY 1987 \$24,175.28 REPUBLICAN PARTY \$89,443.65 DEMOCRATIC PARTY 1988 \$1,213,190.59 **REPUBLICAN PARTY** DEMOCRATIC PARTY \$2,397,534.21 1989 \$28,523.36 REPUBLICAN PARTY \$50,810.70 DEMOCRATIC PARTY 1990 **REPUBLICAN PARTY** \$784,657.46 \$916,060.35 DEMOCRATIC PARTY 1991 \$0.00 REPUBLICAN PARTY DEMOCRATIC PARTY \$2,052.96 \$2,537,693.91 **REPUBLICAN PARTY TOTAL 1986-1991**

The Department of State also calculated the amount of the assessment the state executive committees would have paid to the State under section 106.29(1)(b) had the 1.5% assessment been levied in 1986-1991 and submitted this information in the second affidavit. (R 100 et seq.) Based on <u>reported</u> contributions for those years, the Republican Party and the Democratic Party would have paid the following amounts for deposit into the Trust Fund:

. . . .

-	1986 REPUBLICAN DEMOCRATIC		\$34,925.73 \$21,969.05		
	1987 REPUBLICAN DEMOCRATIC		\$23,867.52 \$15,228.73		
-	L988 REPUBLICAN		\$49,831.40		
	DEMOCRATIC	PARTY	\$48,181.34		
	REPUBLICAN DEMOCRATIC		\$32,532.25 \$13,762.76		
1990					
	REPUBLICAN DEMOCRATIC		\$73,773.43 \$49,182.61		
-	991	PARTI	<i>949,</i> 102.01		
-	REPUBLICAN	PARTY	\$10,902.97		
	DEMOCRATIC	PARTY	\$13,076.59		

REPUBLICAN PARTY TOTAL 1986-1991 \$225,833.30

Thus, had the 1.5% assessment imposed by section 106.29(1)(b) been in effect during this six-year period, the State would have given the Party more than ten times the

- 4 -

amount it assessed under that statute. These figures were not disputed in the trial court.

106.30 -106.36, Florida Statutes, Sections constitute the Florida Election Campaign Financing Act. Pursuant to this Act, qualifying candidates for Governor or for a Cabinet office who agree to abide by the expenditure limits of section 106.34 are entitled to receive contributions from the Trust Fund, which is financed in part by the 1.5% assessment. Section 106.31 states the intent and purpose of the Act:

> The Legislature finds that the costs of effective campaign for running an statewide office have reached a level which tends to discourage persons from becoming candidates and to limit the persons who run for such office to those who are independently wealthy, who are political committees supported by representing special interests which are able to generate substantial campaign contributions, or who must appeal to interest groups for campaign special The Legislature further contributions. campaign contributions finds that generated by such political committees having a disproportionate impact are contributions vis-a-vis from unaffiliated individuals, which leads to government the misperception of officials unduly influenced by those special interests to the detriment of the public interest. The Legislature intends ss. 106.30-106.33 to alleviate these factors, dispel the misperception, and encourage qualified persons to seek statewide elective office who would not, or could not, otherwise do so.

The trial court declared section 106.29(1)(b) unconstitutional in a written order entered March 3, 1992. The court did not explain its reasoning in the order.

- 5 -

The State timely filed its notice of appeal on March 16, 1992. Pursuant to the State's suggestion, the First District Court of Appeal certified the judgment pursuant to Rule 9.125, Fla.R.App.P., as one requiring immediate resolution by this Court.

B. State of Florida, etc., et al. v. NRA Political Victory Fund and Unified Sportsmen Of Florida GUNPAC, No. 79,755

Section 106.07(3)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), imposes a 1.5% assessment on all contributions, excluding in-kind contributions, received by political committees ("PCs"). Section 106.04(4)(b)2., Florida Statutes (1991), imposes the same assessment on contributions received by committees of continuous existence ("CCEs"). The amounts assessed are deposited in the Trust Fund.

PCs are defined in section 106.011. They are organizations that may support or oppose any candidate, issue or political party. CCEs are defined in section 106.011(2) and section 106.04. CCEs are membership organizations that derive at least 25 percent of their income from regular dues. Under section 106.04(5), a CCE may not expend funds on behalf of a candidate except as a contribution. Nor may it expend money in support of or in opposition to an issue unless it registers as a PC. A CCE may make limited contributions to a PC in an amount not to exceed 25 percent of its aggregate income. Contributions of both PCs and CCEs to candidates and other PCs are subject to the limitations of section 106.08. - 6 -

Appellees, the NRA Political Victory Fund (a PC) and the Unified Sportsmen of Florida GUNPAC (a CCE), attacked the 1.5% assessment as violating their rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, sections 4 and 5 of the Florida Constitution.

The trial court, relying on the final judgment in <u>Republican Party, et al. v. State of Florida, etc., et al.</u>, Case No. 91-3775, Leon County Circuit Court, held the statutes invalid under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

A notice of appeal was timely filed, and the District Court of Appeal, First District, at the suggestion of the State, certified the final judgment pursuant to Rule 9.125, Fla.R.App.P., for immediate resolution by this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. In determining the constitutionality of the 1.5% assessment on party executive committees, Florida's election laws must be considered as a whole, not as fragmented and unrelated parts. Considering how the various laws effect the distribution of campaign money, it is clear that the parties receive far more from the State to finance their candidates' campaigns than is assessed by the State to aid those other candidates qualifying for Trust Fund assistance. The First Amendment impact is therefore negligible, if it can even be said to exist.

- 7 -

The Trust Fund money is distributed to candidates on a content neutral basis. The money is used by the State to assist candidates who do not obligate themselves to special interests. The State does not endorse such candidates or the positions they espouse. If the distribution of Trust Fund money is content neutral for the State, it is also content neutral for the party executive They are not, therefore, forced to endorse committees. candidates whose positions they may abhor.

2. The 1.5% assessment is nominal even as it affects PCs and CCEs, which of course do not receive state funds. These entities likewise are not forced to endorse candidacies or positions with which they disagree, given that Trust Fund money is distributed on a content neutral basis. Therefore, the First Amendment impact is slight.

The Supreme Court has considered preventing corruption or the appearance of corruption in the electoral process to be a state interest of the highest order. PCs and CCEs are special interest or single-issue organizations that have a corrosive and sometimes corrupting influence on office seekers and office holders. is appropriate It therefore that these organizations contribute to a fund intended to restore balance and integrity to the electoral system by assisting those who reject special interest support. The statutes are narrowly drawn to achieve this goal with only a minor impact on PCs and CCEs.

- 8 -

3. The 1.5% assessment is not based on the appellees' net income but only on one category of contributions. It has none of the indicia of a tax on income. Moreover, because the appellees' did not prove that the assessments exceeded 5% of their net income, they failed to show a violation of article VII, § 5(b), Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN RULING I. SECTION 106.29(1)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES UNCONSTITUTIONAL (1991), BECAUSE NO INFRINGEMENT OF FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS EXISTS IN VIEW OF THE AMOUNT OF MONEY PARTY BY THE STATE; ANY GIVEN THE IMPAIRMENT THAT MAY BE SAID TO EXIST, THE STATUTE HOWEVER, IS NOMINAL, AND MEETS THE STRICT SCRUTINY TEST.

The Party assailed section 106.29(1)(b) on a number of grounds, arguing in particular that the statute infringes impermissibly on its First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights and corresponding rights under article 1, sections 4 and 5 of the Florida Constitution, by devoting certain assessments on contributions received by the Party's Executive Committee to causes or candidates they do not support and with whom they may disagree. It argued that strict scrutiny analysis must be applied, and that under such analysis the statute serves no compelling state interest and is not the least restrictive means for accomplishing the public financing of elections.¹

¹ The trial court's written order did not state the reasons

The State submits that focusing exclusively on section 106.29(1)(b), ignores the purpose and effect of the election laws <u>as a whole</u>. Seen in this larger perspective, which case authority mandates, it is clear that the financial support the political parties receive from the State far outweighs the nominal amounts assessed under section 106.29(1)(b), and therefore the 1.5% assessment has no impact on First Amendment rights. Moreover, the money is used to <u>broaden</u> participation in the elections process, thus achieving a First Amendment objective, and neither the State nor the Party is compelled to endorse the political ideology or objectives of any candidate receiving money from the Trust Fund.

A. Because The State's Election Laws Must Be Considered As A Whole, The 1.5% Assessment, When Balanced Against The State's Contributions To The Party, Does Not Impair First Amendment Rights

Most, and probably all, state election codes necessarily contain some restrictions or impairments on First Amendment interests, most often those relating to ballot access. Such impairments, which affect the interests of candidates, parties and the voters, do not always render

for invalidating the statute. At the hearing, the court observed that it believed that the state was pursuing a compelling interest but that it should have withheld the money to begin with rather than taken it back under section 106.29(1)(b). The court's oral remarks (R 143) and the final judgment (R 137) are included in the appendix to this brief.

a statute unconstitutional nor do they invariably merit strict scrutiny. For example, in <u>Clements v. Fashing</u>, 457 U.S. 957 (1982), the plaintiffs were state office holders who were contesting the "resign to run" provision of the Texas Constitution. Under that law, various office holders were required to resign their offices before running for the state legislature. As applied to one plaintiff, a justice of the peace, the law imposed a maximum two-year waiting period before he could be eligible to run for the legislature.

The Court, referring to this two-year waiting period as a "de minimis burden," 457 U.S. at 967, rejected a First Amendment challenge to the law, acknowledging that elections require substantial regulation and that it is not up to the Court to review what are basic, governmental decisions.

> We have concluded that the burden on appellees' First Amendment interests in candidacy are so insignificant that the classifications of § 17 and § 65 [of the Texas Constitution] may be upheld with traditional equal protection principles. The State's interests in this regard are sufficient to warrant the de minimis interference with appellees' interests in candidacy.

> > * * * *

Neither the Equal Protection Clause nor the First Amendment authorizes this Court to review in cases such as this the manner in which a State has decided to govern itself. Constitutional limitations arise only if the classification scheme is invidious or if the challenged provision significantly impairs interests protected by the First Amendment. Our view of the wisdom of a state constitutional provision may not color our task of constitutional adjudication.

Id. at 971 and 973 (emphasis added).

In the term that followed Clements, the Supreme Court turned its attention to an Ohio election law that required an independent candidate for President to file a statement of candidacy and a nominating petition in March in order to appear on the general election ballot in November. ruled the Ohio law Although the Court placed an unconstitutional burden on the voting and associational rights of supporters of independent candidates, as in Clements, it declined to apply strict scrutiny analysis. Anderson v. Celebrezze, 460 U.S. 780, 103 S.Ct. 1564 (1983).

Because the Supreme Court analyzed the First Amendment issue presented in <u>Anderson</u> in the context of the "complex and comprehensive" nature of election codes rather than focusing narrowly on the restriction, it is worth guoting the Court's analysis at some length.

> Although these rights of voters are fundamental, not all restrictions imposed by the States on candidates' eligibility for the ballot impose constitutionally suspect burdens on voters' rights to associate or to choose among candidates. We have recognized that, "as a practical matter, there must be a substantial regulation of elections if they are to be fair and honest and if some sort of order, rather than chaos,

> > - 12 -

is to accompany the democratic processes." Storer v. Brown, 415 U.S. 724, 730, 94 S.Ct. 1274, 1279, 39 L.Ed.2d 714 (1974). To achieve these necessary objectives, States have enacted comprehensive and sometimes complex election codes. Each provision of these schemes, whether it governs the of registration and qualifications voters, the selection and eligibility of candidates, or the voting process itself, inevitably affects -- at least to some degree -- the individual's right to vote and his right to associate with for political others ends. Nevertheless, the State's important regulatory interests are generally justify reasonable, sufficient to nondiscriminatory restrictions.

Constitutional challenges to specific provisions of a State's election laws therefore cannot be resolved by any "litmus-paper test" that will separate valid from invalid restrictions. See Storer, supra, 415 U.S., at 730, 94 S.Ct., at 1279. Instead, a court must resolve such a challenge by an analytical process that parallels its It must work in ordinary litigation. first consider the character and magnitude of the asserted injury to the rights protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments that the plaintiff seeks to vindicate. It then must precise identify and evaluate the interests put forward by the State as justifications for the burden imposed by In passing judgment, the its rule. Court must not only determine the legitimacy and strength of each of those interests, it also must consider the extent to which those interests make it necessary to burden the plaintiff's rights. Only after weighing all these factors is the reviewing court in a position to decide whether the challenged provision is unconstitutional. See Williams v. Rhodes, supra, 393 U.S., at 30-31, 89 S.Ct., at 10; Bullock v. Carter, 405

U.S., at 142-143, 92 S.Ct., at 855; American Party of Texas v. White, 415 U.S. 767, 780-781, 94 S.Ct. 1296, 1305-1306, 39 L.Ed.2d 744 (1974); <u>Illinois</u> Elections Bd. v. Socialist Workers Party, 440 U.S. 173, 183, 99 S.Ct. 983, 989, 59 L.Ed.2d 230 (1979). The results this evaluation will not be of automatic; as we have recognized, there is "no substitute for the hard judgments that must be made." Storer v. Brown, supra, 415 U.S., at 730, 94 S.Ct. at 1279.

Anderson, 460 U.S. at 788-790 (emphasis added). In Williams v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 30 (1968), the Court had said with respect to the election law there at issue that "we must consider the facts and circumstances behind the law, the interests which the State claims to be protecting, and the interests of those who are disadvantaged. . . . " See also, Munro v. Socialist Workers Party, 479 U.S. 189, 193, 107 S.Ct. 533, 93 L.Ed.2d 499 (1986) ("[First Amendment] associational . . . rights are not absolute and are necessarily subject to qualification if elections are to be fairly and effectively"),² and Rivera-Rodriguez v. run Popular Democratic Party, 457 U.S. 1, 8, 102 S.Ct. 2194, 72 (1982) (state election laws entitled to L.Ed.2d 628 substantial deference).

² In <u>Munro</u>, the Supreme Court upheld a Washington State statute that required that a minor party candidate receive over 1 percent of all primary votes cast for the office sought before the candidate's name could be placed on the general election ballot. Justice Marshall dissented because the court did not apply the strict scrutiny test. <u>See</u> 479 U.S. at 200.

The foregoing cases recognize that election codes necessarily entail some restrictions on First Amendment rights; such codes are comprehensive and complex and are generally justified by important state interests; there is "litmus-paper test" to separate the valid from the no invalid restrictions; a court must carefully weigh the State's interests against those asserted under the First and Fourteenth Amendments and the degree to which those interests may be impaired. Constitutional limitations arise only if a First Amendment interest is significantly Decisions that are simply about how a state impaired. chooses to govern itself are not subject to constitutional challenge.

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