TEL SID J. WHITE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 18 1992

STATE OF FLORIDA, by ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, as Attorney General of Florida; et al., CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,696

REPUBLICAN PARTY OF FLORIDA, and REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF FLORIDA,

Appellees.

STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,755

NRA POLITICAL VICTORY COMMITTEE and UNIFIED SPORTSMEN OF FLORIDA GUNPAC,

Appellees.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

LAW FIRM CHANGED TO:

MCFARLAIN, WILEY, CASSEDY & JONES

Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 222-2107

✓ RICHARD C. McFARLAIN fla. Bar. I.D. No. 052803

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

Burger "would not go beyond the central question presented by this case, which is the infringement of Pacific's right to be free from forced association with views with which it disagrees." <u>Pacific Gas</u>, 475 U.S. at 241, 89 L.Ed.2d at 15-16.

The Legislature, in enacting Chapter 91-107, stated in part that "the Legislature seeks to serve that compelling state interest through campaign finance reform and by establishing public funding of political campaigns" and "that the measures set forth are narrowly tailored to serve the compelling state interest in public confidence in the electoral process, and that they are the least restrictive alternatives for," in part, "[t]hey do not compel political speech from individuals who wish to refrain from such speech (e.g., apolitical taxpayers), or otherwise unduly burden the public treasury." The Legislature further provided that "[t]hey do not significantly burden any individual's right to political expression or symbolic political communication." But, sections 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), and 106.04(4)(b)2. impermissibly burden Appellees right to choose the purposes for which their money is to be spent. The legislation "compels" Appellees to help finance the campaigns of certain persons seeking certain office.

Appellants argue that the State of Florida has a compelling interest in enacting this legislation. However, as noted by this court, and quoting from precedent from the United States Supreme Court, "preventing corruption or the appearance of corruption are the <u>only</u> legitimate compelling government interests thus far

identified for restricting campaign finances." State v. Dodd, 561 So.2d at 265 (emphasis in original), citing FEC v. National Conservative Political Action Committee, 470 U.S. at 496-497, 105 S.Ct. 1459, 84 L.Ed.2d at 469-70 (1985). The Court has explained that "[c]orruption is a subversion of the political process. Elected officials are influenced to act contrary to their obligations of office by the prospect of financial gain to themselves or infusions of money into their campaigns. The hallmark of corruption is the financial quid pro quo: dollars for political favors." 470 U.S. at 497, 84 L.Ed.2d at 471. (In <u>FEC</u>, supra, the Court invalidated a congressional act which made it illegal for a PAC to expend more than \$1,000 to further the campaign of a presidential candidate receiving public financing. 470 U.S. at 501, 84 L.Ed.2d at 472). The requirement that the Appellees contribute to the Fund bears no relationship to preventing corruption or the appearance of corruption. If the State of Florida wants to have public financing of campaigns, then it should provide that funds other than those of political associations be used. To this end, sections 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), and 106.04(4)(b)2. are unconstitutional.

Despite Appellants' allegations to the contrary, strict scrutiny is the proper analysis in this case. Sections 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), and 106.04(4)(b)2. directly infringe on Appellees' freedoms of association and speech by requiring the party to provide funds to support campaigns whose political beliefs or affiliations Appellees do not support. Appellants

claim that the 1.5% assessment<sup>3</sup> on contributions Appellees receive (excluding contributions from political committees, committees of continuous existence and in-kind contributions and filing fees for the Party and excluding in-kind contributions for the NRA) is nominal and <u>de minimis</u>,<sup>4</sup>, <sup>5</sup> and, therefore, strict

<sup>4</sup> In the 1990 election year which included elections for state-wide office, the Party <u>would</u> have paid \$73,773.43 to the Fund. This is based on reported paid contributions. This amount is not <u>de minimis</u> by anyone's definition! "De minimis non curat lex " means: "The law does not care for, or take notice of, every small or trifling matters." Black's Law Dictionary 431 (6th ed. 1990). In 1991, the Party did not receive any filing fees and party assessments yet paid \$12,005.77 to the Fund for the July 1-December, 1991 reporting period. (R66).

5 Appellants argue that the Party cannot complain about the 1.5% assessment because the amount of funding the Party receives from the State far outweighs the amount the Party must pay pursuant to section 106.29(1)(b). (This <u>de minimis</u> argument, however attractive, cannot be applied to the NRA since the NRA does not receive filing fees from the State. See Initial Brief at 21)). This is false logic. The cornerstone of Freedom of Association is the principle that no one be compelled to support political causes which they do not favor. See Wooley, supra; Abood, 431 U.S. at 256, 97 S.Ct. 1782, 52 L.Ed.2d at 298 ("An individual can no more be required to affiliate with a candidate by making a contribution than he can be prohibited from such affiliation") (emphasis added). The sources of an individual's, or party's, wealth or income is irrelevant when considering First Amendment violations. The only relevant consideration is whether the assessment <u>itself</u> violates the First Amendment and, if so, whether there is a compelling state interest that justifies the intrusion, along with a showing that the State used the least restrictive means to achieve the interest. Moreover, section 106.29(1)(b) is not tied to the amount of funding the State provides the Party. If this section were declared constitutional, the State could just as easily stop funding the Party at all, while still assessing the 1.5% tax on the Party as a charge for exercising its First Amendment rights. Finally, the courts "must be as vigilant against the modest diminution of speech as [they] are against its sweeping restriction. When at all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The assessment is a tax. A tax has been defined "as an enforced pecuniary burden laid on individuals or property to support government." Coy v. Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Plan, 17 F.L.W. S104 (Fla. Feb. 13, 1992).

scrutiny is unnecessary. Although the Court has held that under certain circumstances involving the regulation of election campaigns the strict scrutiny analysis will not be applied, the instant case is dissimilar from that line of cases.

The cases cited by Appellants involve incidental infringements on First Amendment rights; the regulations themselves do not directly infringe on First Amendment rights, but instead regulate activities which are properly subject to regulation. <u>See generally, Service Employees v. Fair Political</u> <u>Practices, 747 F.Supp. 580, 583-84 (E.D. Cal. 1991). For</u> example, in <u>Anderson v. Celebrezze</u>, 460 U.S. 780, 103 S.Ct. 1564, 75 L.Ed.2d 547 (1983),<sup>6</sup> the Court did not apply the strict scrutiny analysis when interpreting an Ohio law that required an independent candidate for president to file a statement of candidacy in a nominating petition in March in order to appear on the general election ballot in November. However, the Ohio law did not directly impinge an any First Amendment right. It set

possible, government must curtail speech only to the degree necessary to meet the particular problem at hand, and must avoid infringing on speech that does not pose the danger that has prompted regulation." FEC, 479 U.S. at 264, 93 L.Ed.2d at 561.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The other cases relied upon by Appellants, Clements v. Fashing, 457 U.S. 957, 102 S.Ct. 2936, 73 L.Ed.2d 508 (1982) and Monro v. Socialist Workers Party, 479 U.S. 189, 107 S.Ct. 533, 93 L.Ed.2d 499 (1986) are inapplicable in this case. Both of these cases involve barriers to ballot access. The Court applied a lesser standard and concluded that no fundamental rights existed to candidate ballot access as restricted in these cases. Neither case implies that the First Amendment infringements at issue here are governed by anything less than strict scrutiny.

deadlines for the filing of documents related to an individual's desire to run. There is no First Amendment right for an individual to obtain easy access to presidential ballots. The Ohio law was a regulatory scheme directed at facilitating the operational function of the election process.<sup>7</sup>

Conversely, Appellees have First Amendment right to decide who to associate with, or who not to associate with. <u>See Wooley</u> <u>v. Maynard, supra</u>.<sup>8</sup> But, the only effect of sections 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), and 106.04(4)(b)2. is to take money from Appellees and give it to candidates whom the Appellees have consciously chosen not to support. This is not an indirect infringement that deserves any less than strict scrutiny; it is a direct violation of Appellees freedoms of association and speech and must be subjected to strict scrutiny.

The relationship between direct and indirect infringements on First Amendment rights may be better understood by considering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Supreme Court has expressly distinguished between laws which regulate elections and those laws which infringe upon First Amendment rights. <u>See</u> Eu v. San Francisco Democratic Committee, <u>supra</u> ("None of [the restrictions upheld by the Court], however, involved direct regulation of a party's leaders. Rather, the infringement on the associational rights of the parties and their members was the indirect consequence of laws necessary to the successful completion of a party's external responsibilities in ensuring the order and fairness of elections.") 489 U.S. at 231-232, 103 L.Ed. at 288.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In Wooley, the Court refused to accept the dissent's claim that the Maynards' First Amendment rights were not implicated because they were not forced to expressly affirm or reject the New Hampshire matter. Id. at 720, 51 L.Ed.2d at 766 (Rehnquist, J. dissenting). Similarly, Appellants claims that statute is constitutional because the Appellees are not required to expressly support other candidates must fail.

the reasoning behind several licensure cases. In those cases, the courts have reasoned that assessments against persons for asserting their First Amendment rights are indirect only where the assessments are used to cover the reasonable costs associated with the activity. See, e.g., Cox v. New Hampshire, 312 U.S. 569, 61 S.Ct. 762, 85 L.Ed. 1049 (1941)<sup>9</sup> But, the assessment must be limited to these circumstances. "In each of the cases sustaining licensing fees against first amendment attack, the licensing authority had been able to demonstrate that the fees were necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the licensing system, and that the fees were used for no other purpose than to meet those costs." Bayside Enterprises. Inc. v. Carson, 450 F.Supp. 696, 705 (M.D. Fla. 1978) (emphasis added). See also The Nationalist Movement v. The City of Cuming, Forsyth County, Georgia, 913 F.2d 885 (11th Cir. 1990) reinstated en banc, 934 F.2d 1482, cert. granted. Any assessment which is used for other purposes is improper because the "[e]xaction of fees for the privilege of exercising First Amendment rights has been condemned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Two years after Cox, the Court held that a tax on the exercise of First Amendment rights is unconstitutional even if there is no proof that the tax actually restrains the exercise of those freedoms. Murdock v. Pennsylvania, 319 U.S. 105, 114, 63 S.Ct. 870, 87 L.Ed. 1292 (1943) ("A state may not impose a charge for the enjoyment of a right granted by the federal constitution."). This holding weakens Appellants "de minimis" argument because it is irrelevant that sections 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), and 106.04(4)(b)2. may have only a minor effect on the Appellees.

by the Supreme Court."<sup>10</sup> Fernandes v. Limmer, 663 F.2d 619, 632 (5th Cir. 1981) <u>cert. dismissed</u>, 458 U.S. 1124, 103 S.Ct. 5, 73 L.Ed.2d 1395 (1982), citing <u>Harper v. Virginia State Bd. of</u> Elections, 383 U.S. 663, 86 S.Ct. 1079, 16 L.Ed.2d 169 (1966); Jones v. City of Opelika, 319 U.S. 103, 63 S.Ct. 890, 87 L.Ed. 1290 (1943): <u>Grosjean v. American Press Co.</u>, 297 U.S. 233, 56 S.Ct. 444, 80 L.Ed. 660 (1936). As these cases indicate, the 1.5% assessment may only be proper if the funds are utilized for general election maintenance costs, and then, only if reasonable. <u>Cf. Moffett v. Killian</u>, 360 F.Supp. 228, 231-32 (D. Conn. 1973) (three-judge district court invalidating fee imposed for legislative lobbying when in excess of costs of administration). As this is not the case, the statute unconstitutionally impinges on Appellee's freedoms of association and speech.

Then too, Appellants rely heavily on their assertion that "preserving the integrity of its election process" is a compelling interest that justifies the legislative mandate that the Party provide financing for other parties. Appellees do not dispute the fact that preserving the integrity of the election process is an interest the State may protect. But, a state's broad power to regulate elections "does not extinguish the State's responsibility to observe the limits established by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Sections 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), and 106.04(4)(b)2. assess only those parties or groups who wish to take full advantage of their First Amendment rights and participate in the political process. Such an assessment is based on the Appellees' decision to exercise their First Amendment rights. As such, Appellees are being taxed for exercising their rights.

First Amendment rights of the State's citizens." Eu, 489 U.S. at 222, 103 L.Ed.2d at 281 (quoting Tashjian, supra.) However, in this case, the method by which the state is attempting to do so conflicts head-on with Appellees' right not to endorse candidates or parties not of their choosing. In this manner, it is similar to Eu, in which the Supreme Court held that a California law forbidding official governing bodies of political parties from endorsing or opposing candidates in primary elections was unconstitutional. The Court specifically rejected the state's claim that the burden on the parties was "minuscule," reasoning that "[t]he ban directly affects speech which 'is at the core of our electoral process and of the first amendment freedoms'." Eu, 489 U.S.at 222-23, 103 L.Ed.2d at 282. Similarly, the 1.5% tax affects core election-based First Amendment rights of Appellees not to provide means of support for candidates whom they choose not to consciously endorse.

Appellants' attempt to minimize the effect that taking money from Appellees and giving it to candidates has on the Appellees' free association rights. Appellants have asserted that the Party, and implicitly the NRA, "is not forced to endorse the candidacies or message of those qualifying for public financing [pursuant to section 106.29(1)(b)]." (R84). Then, Appellants assert that the money is not given to qualifiers as a means of endorsement, but only as a means of financial support. However, the fact that the State may disburse the money to candidates on a content neutral basis, a point not conceded by Appellees, does

not affect the fact that the State is utilizing Appellees' funds to support individuals or groups whom the Appellees do not consciously support. <u>Pacific Gas & Electric v. Public Utilities</u> <u>Comm'n. of California, supra</u>, is controlling in this regard because Appellees are being penalized for exercising their rights of free association and speech. The State is forcing Appellees to use part of their funds (received contributions) to support individuals or groups with whom they disagree. That the trust fund money is not available only to their adversaries is irrelevant. At least some, if not most or all, of the trust fund money will be available to their adversaries, and in those cases the Appellees will have been forced to privately subsidize those other parties and candidates, as well as their political and philosophical persuasions.

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear that the 1.5% assessments are invalid.

II. CONSIDERATION OF WHETHER THE 1.5% ASSESSMENT IMPOSED BY SECTIONS 106.29(1)(b), 106.07(3)(b), 106.04(4)(b)2. IS AN INVALID INCOME TAX IS NOT RIPE FOR THIS COURT'S CONSIDERATION.

It is true that the Party and NRA argued that the 1.5% assessment was an invalid tax or special assessment in violation of article VII, sections 1 and 5 of the Florida Constitution. However, in light of Judge Steinmeyer's ruling, as adopted by Judge Davey by Stipulation, there was no need to develop the issue further as the statutory assessments were found to be unconstitutional on an independent basis. Therefore, this issue

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